
Date Posted: May 20, 2021 

HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 

SPECIAL MEETING AGENDA 

MONDAY MAY 24, 2021   5:30 P.M. 

REMOTE MEETING 

COVID-19 ADVISORY NOTICE 

On March 16, 2020, the Marin County Public Health Officer issued a legal shelter in place order. 
On March 31, 2020 the Marin County Public Health Officer issued an updated legal order directing 
all residents to shelter at their place of residence through May 3, 2020, except to perform Essential 
Activities.  The March 31, 2020 Order prohibits the gathering of any number of people occurring 
outside a household unit, except for the limited purpose of participating in an Essential Activity. 
Additional information is available at https://coronavirus.marinhhs.org/. 

This meeting is necessary so that the City of Belvedere can continue its business and is considered 
an Essential Activity.  Consistent with Executive Orders No. 25-20 and No. 29-20 from the 
Executive Department of the State of California, the meeting will not be physically open to the 
public.  Members of the Planning Commission and staff will participate in this meeting remotely 
as permitted under said Executive Orders.   

As always, the public may submit comments in advance of the meeting by emailing the Senior 
Planner at: rmarkwick@cityofbelvedere.org.  Please write “Public Comment” in the subject line. 
Comments submitted one hour prior to the commencement of the meeting will be presented to the 
Committee and included in the public record for the meeting.  Those received after this time will 
be added to the record and shared with Committee after the meeting.   

The meeting will be available to the public through Zoom video conference.  Those who do not 
have access to Zoom may access the meeting by calling the number below.  

Join Zoom Meeting 

Rebecca Markwick is inviting you to a scheduled Zoom meeting. 

Topic: Historic Preservation Committee May 24, 2021 

Time: May 24, 2021 05:30 PM Pacific Time (US and Canada) 

Join Zoom Meeting 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89737859877 

Meeting ID: 897 3785 9877 

The City encourages that comments be submitted in advance of the meeting.  However, for 
members of the public using the Zoom video conference function, those who wish to comment 
on an agenda item should write “I wish to make a public comment” in the chat section of the 
remote meeting platform.  At the appropriate time, the Clerk will allow oral public comment 
through the remote meeting platform.   

Any member of the public who needs special accommodations to access the public meeting should 
email the Senior Planner rmarkwick@cityofbelvedere.org, who will use her best efforts to provide 
assistance. 



 
 

Date Posted: May 20, 2021 
 

 
SPECIAL MEETING 

HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 
MONDAY, MAY 24, 2021, 5:30 P.M. 
REMOTE MEETING VIA ZOOM 

BELVEDERE, CALIFORNIA 
 

AGENDA 
 

OPEN FORUM 

This is an opportunity for any citizen to briefly address the Historic Preservation Committee on 
any matter that does not appear on this agenda.  Upon being recognized by the Chair, please state 
your name, address, and limit your oral statement to no more than three minutes.  Matters that 
appear to warrant a more lengthy presentation or Committee consideration may be agendized for 
further discussion at a later meeting. 

REPORTS 

The Reports agenda item consists of any oral reports from any individual members of the Historic 
Preservation Committee and/or staff. 

SCHEDULED ITEMS 
 
1. Approve minutes of the April 13, 2021 meeting. 

2. Public Hearing for consideration of Mills Act Agreement for property at 308 
Golden Gate Avenue pursuant to Section 21.20.120 of the Belvedere Municipal 
Code. The Mills Act is a tax abatement program for the purposes of historic 
preservation. CEQA Status: categorically exempt pursuant to Section 15331. 
ApplicantS/Property Owners: The James and Suzanne DuMolin AB Living Trust 

3. Future agenda items.  
 

NOTICE:  WHERE TO VIEW AGENDA MATERIALS 
Staff reports and other writings distributed to the Committee, including those distributed after the posting date of this agenda, are 
available for public inspection at Belvedere City Hall, 450 San Rafael Avenue, Belvedere.  To request automatic mailing of agenda 
materials, please contact the City Clerk at 415-435-8913. 

 
 
 
 

NOTICE:  AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT

The following accommodations will be provided, upon request, to persons with a disability: agendas and/or agenda packet 
materials in alternate formats and special assistance needed to attend or participate in this meeting.  Please make your request at 
City Hall or by calling 415/435-3838.  Whenever possible, please make your request four working days in advance. 



 

 

REGULAR MEETING 
HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 

TUESDAY, APRIL 13, 2021, 5:30 P.M. 
ZOOM MEETING 

450 SAN RAFAEL AVENUE, BELVEDERE, CA 
 

MINUTES 
_________________________________________________________________ 

 
COMMITTEE PRESENT: Mel Owen, Jeanne Price, George Gnoss, Robert Griffin, John 

Sheehy, Marshall Butler. 
COMMITTEE ABSENT: Diana Bradley 

OTHERS PRESENT: Senior Planner Rebecca Markwick, Mayor James Campbell, 
Technician Nancy Miller, Jody and Bob Harris, Debbie Bennett 

These minutes are intended to reflect the general content of the regular meeting. An audio file of 
the meeting is available on the City website at www.cityofbelvedere.org 

CALL TO ORDER OF REGULAR MEETING 

Chair Owen called the meeting to order at 5:30 P.M. 

OPEN FORUM 

No one wished to speak. 

REPORTS 

Committee welcomed new Committee member Marshall Butler. 

SCHEDULED ITEMS 

1.  Approve Minutes of the February 9, 2021 meeting. 

A Motion was made and seconded to approve the Minutes. 

The Minutes were approved unanimously. (Bradley absent, Butler abstaining due to not at the 
meeting). 

2. Public Hearing for Consideration of Historical Designation of property at 428 Golden Gate 
Avenue pursuant to Chapter 21.20 of the Belvedere Municipal Code.  CEQA status:  
Categorically Exempt pursuant to Section 15301 of the CEQA Guidelines.  Applicant and 
Property Owners: Shawn and Debbie Bennett/Bennet Family Rev. Trust. 

Senior Planner stated she is available to answer questions. 

John Sheehy presented the report prepared for the item after the site visit to the property with 
George Gnoss.  They were very impressed with the efforts of the new owners who are doing a lot 
of work to repair and restore the home. 

George Gnoss stated that in all respects this home qualifies for designation in meeting all of the 
criteria (except #7) as stated in the survey and staff report. 

MOTION:   That the Historic Preservation Committee recommend to the Planning Commission 
                     approval of the designation of the property at 428 Golden Gate Avenue, as a City 
                     of Belvedere Historic Property. 

MOVED and SECONDED.  Approved Unanimously. (Bradley Absent) 



 

 

Minutes of the Historic Preservation Committee 
April 13, 2021 
Page 2 
 

3. Public Hearing for Consideration of Historical Designation of property at 304 Golden Gate 
Avenue pursuant to Chapter 21.20 of the Belvedere Municipal Code.  CEQA status:  
Categorically Exempt pursuant to Section 15301 of the CEQA Guidelines.  Applicant and 
Property Owners: The Jody A. Harris and Robert C. Harris Jr. Revocable Trust. (Recused: 
Robert Griffin) 

Chair Owen stated he and member Price reviewed the property and prepared the survey report. 

Owners Bob and Jody Harris thanked the Committee members for their consideration of the 
application and they stated they have endeavored to retain the historic character of the home. 

Member Price reported on their observations of the property at their site visit. Updates have been 
made to windows but they have the same look as the original windows. 

Chair Owen stated he was impressed with the treatment of the cement chimney to replicate the 
original brick chimney.  

Member Gnoss stated he would like to review the application as to the criteria it meets for 
designation. 

Committee discussed the list of criteria and determined that it meets criteria numbers 1) 2) 4) 5) 
6) 7) and 8).  

MOTION:   That the Historic Preservation Committee recommend to the Planning Commission 
                     approval of the designation of the property at 304 Golden Gate Avenue, as a City 
                     of Belvedere Historic Property. 

MOVED and SECONDED.  Approved Unanimously. (Bradley Absent, Griffin abstaining due to 
proximity) 

4. Future agenda items.  

Committee selected members to review a new application for Historic Designation at 300 Bella 
Vista Avenue.  

Members Butler and Owen agreed to prepare the survey report. 

Adjourn 

The meeting was adjourned at 5:55 P.M. 

THE FOREGOING MINUTES were approved at a regular meeting of the Historic Preservation 
Committee on ______, 2021 by the following vote: 
 
AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSTAIN:  
ABSENT:  
 APPROVED:___________________________ 
  Mel Owen, Chairman 
ATTEST:_________________________________  
 Rebecca Markwick, Senior Planner 



 
  
CITY OF BELVEDERE HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 

STAFF REPORT 
 
 

 

 

REPORT DATE: May 19, 2021     AGENDA ITEM:  2 

MEETING DATE:  May 24, 2021 

TO:   Chairman Owen and Members of the Historic Preservation Committee 

WRITTEN BY: Rebecca Markwick, Senior Planner  

REVIEWED BY: Irene Borba, Director of Planning and Building 

SUBJECT: Application for Mills Act Agreement for 308 Golden Gate Avenue 
 
Recommendation: 
The proposed application is for a Mills Act Agreement with the property located at 308 Golden 
Gate Avenue. The Mills Act is an economic incentive program for the restoration and preservation 
of qualified historic structures. The property at 308 Golden Gate Avenue has previously been 
designated as a historical site by the Belvedere City Council. Staff recommends that the Historic 
Preservation Committee conduct the public hearing and take the following action: 
 
MOTION:  To recommend that the City Council enter into a Mills Act Agreement with the 

property owners of 308 Golden Gate Avenue to help maintain this City of 
Belvedere Historically Designated Property. 

 
Background: 

The project site is a sloping property within the R-15 zoning 
district. The site is adjacent to single-family residences to the 
north and south and is a street-to-street lot between Golden Gate 
Avenue and Bella Vista Avenue. The house was built c.1907 and 
is an excellent example of Italianate style of architecture.  
 
The property owners are requesting to enter into a Mills Act 

Agreement with the City. The Mills Act grants property tax relief and is designed as an incentive 
to encourage the preservation of Belvedere’s most historically and architecturally significant 
structures. In order to be considered for a Mills Act Agreement, the property must first be listed 
on a state, city or county register of historic landmarks. 
 
On October 13, 2020, the property owners applied for historic designation of their property. After 
conducting a survey of the structure, the Historic Preservation Committee recommended Planning 
Commission approval of the application at their meeting on February 9, 2021. On March 16, 2021, 
the Planning Commission recommended City Council approval of the request for historic 
designation. On April 12, 2021 the Belvedere City Council designated the property at 308 Golden 
Gate Avenue a landmark designation property through City Council Resolution No. 2021-06 
(Attachment 2).  This action made the property eligible for a Mills Act Agreement, and on April19, 
2021, the property owners submitted a fee for the Mills Act Agreement application.  

  



Historic Preservation Committee Staff Report for 308 Golden Gate Avenue 
Owners: The James and Suzanne DuMolin AB Living Trust  
May 24, 2021 
Page 2 of 3 
 
 
California Government Code §50281(2) requires an inspection of the interior and exterior of the 
property prior to the issuance of a new Mills Act Agreement to determine the owner’s compliance 
with the contract. In accordance with past City policy, when a Mills Act application is received, 
an inspection of the residence is conducted by the Building Official for the purpose of evaluating 
the condition of the property, such as any obvious signs of disrepair, structural failure, or 
deterioration. On May 17, 2021, the Building Official and Senior Planner conducted an inspection 
of the property and found no sign of disrepair, structural failure or deterioration. (Attachment 3) 
 
Analysis: 

Pursuant to Section 21.20.120, Historical property incentives, of the Belvedere Municipal Code, 
“The City may enter into an historical property contract as authorized by the Mills Act 
(Government Code 50281.1 et seq.) for tax relief for any property owner of a designated 
property/structure who requests the contract.  Additional incentives may be adopted by the City 
Council as appropriate.  (Ord. 2006-6 § 1 (part), 2006; Ord. 93-5 § 1 (part), 1993.)”  Pursuant to 
City policy, the City Council authorizes an agreement upon recommendation first by the Historic 
Preservation Committee.  The Historic Preservation Committee’s recommendation includes the 
current status of the property and the intention of the City in entering into the Mills Act Agreement 
to preserve the cultural resource. 
 
The Belvedere City Council has set a limit on the total tax losses that can be associated with Mills 
Act Properties. On September 6, 2005, the Belvedere City Council increased the cap on Mills Act 
revenue incentive losses from $10,000 to $25,000, to be adjusted annually in an amount equivalent 
to the percentage change in overall assessed valuation of the City for the previous year. On April 
14, 2008, the City Council adopted a resolution excluding from the cap on Mills Act tax losses 
those properties to which a Notice of Non-Renewal has been issued. Therefore, the adjusted annual 
cap is now $54,094, and the net remaining tax loss available for new properties is approximately 
$7,073 (including this proposed agreement).  
 
A Mills Act Agreement requires the County Tax Assessors’ Office to determine the value of the 
property based upon its current potential income, rather than the Prop 13 formula generally 
applied. The County of Marin Assessor’s Office estimates that a Mills Act Agreement for 308 
Golden Gate Avenue would represent a reduction in the assessed valuation of the property by 
5,493,000. This would result in an approximate $11,535 annual loss in tax revenue to the City of 
Belvedere. 
 

Historic Property 
Address 

Estimated 
2020/21 Roll 

Value 

Estimated 
2020/21  

Mills Act Value 

Estimated 
Owner Savings 

per year 

Estimated 
City Tax Loss

per year 

308 Golden Gate 
Avenue 

$7,493,000 $2,000,000 $54,930 $11,535 

 



Historic Preservation Committee Staff Report for 308 Golden Gate Avenue 
Owners: The James and Suzanne DuMolin AB Living Trust  
May 24, 2021 
Page 3 of 3 
 
 

Recommendation: 

Staff supports the proposed application for a Mills Act Agreement with property located at 308 
Golden Gate Avenue in order to preserve the cultural resource. Staff recommends that the Historic 
Preservation Committee conduct the public hearing and take the following action: 
 
MOTION: To recommend that the City Council enter into a Mills Act Agreement with the 

property owners of 308 Golden Gate Avenue, to help maintain this City of Belvedere 
Historically Designated Property.  

 
Attachments:  

1. Application for Mills Act Agreement 
2. City Council Resolution 2021-06 
3. City Inspection Report 















 - 1 - 
 
U:\ADMINCLERK\COMMITTEES\HISTORIC PRESERVATION\AGENDAS\AGENDA PACKET HPC 2021\MAY 2021\308 GOLDEN GATE AVE HISTORIC MAINTENANCE INSPECTION.DOC 

 

CITY OF BELVEDERE 
450 San Rafael Avenue      Belvedere, CA  94920 

Tel: 415 / 435-3838      Fax: 415 / 435-0430 www\cityofbelvedere.org 
 

 
 
Date:  May 20, 2021 
To:  Rebecca Markwick, City of Belvedere Senior Planner 
CC:  James & Suzanne Du Molin 
From:  Brian Van Son, City of Belvedere Building Official 
Re:  308 Golden Gate Ave. – Mills Act Maintenance Inspection 
═══════════════════════════════════════════════════════ 
 
On May 18, 2021, I performed a building inspection at 308 Golden Gate Ave., pursuant to the 
provisions contained in the Mills Act Agreement requested by the property owners, Mr. and 
Mrs. Du Molin, with the City of Belvedere.  I was accompanied by Mr. and Mrs. Du Molin, 
property owners, and Rebecca Markwick, Senior Planner for the City of Belvedere.  Mrs. 
Markwick took numerous photos to record the condition of the structures. 
 
Research through Marin County Assessor’s Office and City of Belvedere records indicate that 
the original construction was circa 1907.  There have been multiple building permits issued to 
this property since it was constructed.  Notably: 
 

 1985 era permit to remodel the entire residence. 

 1986 era permit to remodel the garage and construct a carport. 

 1987 era permit for a basement remodel and deck addition. 

 1988 era permit to construct a swimming pool, site retaining walls, and other various 
site improvements. 

 2000 era permit for foundation repairs and seismic retrofit. 

 2007 era permit to replace exterior lighting, replace doors, and construct balconies. 

 2007 era permit to replace windows in two separate sunrooms. 

 2008 era permit to repair the garage and add pillars to the entry. 
 
Please note, records for this property prior to 1985 could not be located in the City of Belvedere 
database. 
 
All habitable areas were inspected, as well as, all accessible attic space, underfloor crawlspace, 
and the exterior of the structure.  We found the structure to be in very good condition and well 
maintained, with no signs of stress or deterioration.  As a result, there are no apparent aspects 
of the building which appear in a deteriorated state nor require any repairs or rehabilitation. 

 


	Draft Agenda 2021 05 24 SPECIAL HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMITTEE
	2021 04 13 HPC Draft Minutes
	308 Golden Gate SR- Mills Act
	2021-06
	308 Golden Gate Mills Act Application
	308 Golden Gate Ave Historic Maintenance Inspection

